RECEIVED

Aug 05 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Honorable Robert J. Bonds, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2026-001286
Civil Action No. 2026-CP-10-01436

Dr. Brian McClure,
Appellant,
v.
Charleston County School District, Charleston County School District Education Foundation,
Leah Whatley, Michelle Leber, Keith Grybowski, Carlotta Bailey, and Pamela McKinney,
Respondents.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Emmanuel J. Ferguson, Sr.
FERGUSON LAW AND MEDIATION, LLC
SC Bar No. 81431
171 Church Street, Suite 160
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
Telephone: (843) 491-4890

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err or abuse its discretion by denying preliminary injunctive relief?
- II. Did the circuit court err by finding no likelihood of success on the merits?
- III. Did the circuit court err by denying reconsideration without making the findings of fact and conclusions of law required by Rule 52(a), SCRCP?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the circuit court's denial of Appellant's request for preliminary injunctive relief in a South Carolina Freedom of Information Act action. Appellant seeks review of the denial of interim relief concerning the legal effect of the February 25, 2026, vote approving Michelle Faust to serve on a newly created board designed to assist the Charleston County School District's ("CCSD") Board of Trustees. Appellant further seeks review of the circuit court's denial of Appellant's motion to reconsider or, in the alternative, to make findings addressing the governing FOIA statutes.

On March 19, 2026, Appellant filed Plaintiff's Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction. The motion invoked S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-100, Rule 65, SCRCF, and the court's inherent equitable authority. It alleged that CCSD approved Michelle Faust to serve on the CCSD Education Foundation (the "Foundation") Board after Appellant's properly noticed nomination failed. Faust's nomination was not on the posted agenda, no additional twenty-four hours' public notice was given, no two-thirds vote was taken to add the item, and no emergency or exigent-circumstance finding was made. Appellant's motion requested interim relief prohibiting Respondents from treating the Faust vote as valid, prohibiting the Foundation from recognizing Faust as a voting director or relying on her vote, preserving Foundation nomination records, and preventing future Foundation votes pending final resolution. (Motion for TRO and Preliminary Injunction at 1-2).

Appellant filed an Amended Complaint on March 27, 2026. The Amended Complaint alleges violations of the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-10 et seq., arising from actions taken by the CCSD Board of Trustees at its February 25, 2026, public meeting. (Amended Complaint).

The circuit court held a hearing on April 1, 2026. At that hearing, the court heard testimony from three trustees, CCSD Chief Financial Officer Daniel Prentice, and Superintendent Anita Huggins. The court also received various documents, including the January 26, 2026, Agenda, the February 25, 2026 Agenda, the March 4, 2026 Agenda, CCSD Policy BEDA/BEDB, the Foundation Bylaws and Nominee Process, and various email exhibits. (April 1 Tr. 3:1-4:25; April 1 Tr. 55:1-57:25; April 1 Tr. 108:1-11).

On April 6, 2026, the circuit court entered a Form 4 order denying temporary and preliminary injunctive relief. The order did not make findings of fact, did not explain the legal basis for those conclusions, and did not address S.C. Code Ann. §§ 30-4-80(A) or 30-4-100(A). (April 6 Form 4 Order at 1). Appellant timely moved to reconsider, alter, or amend under Rules 52 and 59, SCRCF. Appellant asked the circuit court to address the statutory irreparable harm language in § 30-4-100(A), the agenda addition requirements in § 30-4-80(A), and, at minimum, to enter findings of fact and conclusions of law explaining the denial of interlocutory injunctive relief. (Motion to Reconsider at 1-2; April 30 Tr. 9:15-10:21).

The circuit court heard the reconsideration motion on April 30, 2026. On May 1, 2026, the circuit court entered another Form 4 order denying reconsideration. The May 1 order stated that the court reviewed the memoranda, heard argument, and “declines to reconsider its April 6, 2026, order.” The order again did not address Rule 52(a), § 30-4-80(A), or § 30-4-100(A). (May 1 Form 4 Order at 1). Appellant timely served a Notice of Appeal on May 22, 2026. This Court has jurisdiction under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(4), which permits immediate appeal from an interlocutory order refusing an injunction.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Foundation, bylaws, and nomination process.

The Charleston County School District Education Foundation (the “Foundation”) is a newly planned nonprofit entity established to assist and support the Charleston County School District (“CCSD”), including its administration, staff, teachers, and students. Notably, CCSD operates independently of the Foundation and can continue managing the business of the school district without the Foundation. The Foundation bylaws provide that the Foundation is organized and operated to assist and support the District and to promote educational and charitable endeavors for public schools in the District. (Bylaws at 1-2).

During Phase 1 of the Foundation’s creation, the initial voting members of the Foundation’s Board of Directors “shall be appointed by majority vote of the Board of Trustees of the District.” (Bylaws § 5.02). The bylaws further provide that, during Phase 1, the initial voting directors appointed by the Board of Trustees shall include a resident of each of Charleston County’s nine election districts who is not an employee or member of the Board of Trustees. (Bylaws § 5.02; April 1 Tr. 61:4-13; 62:1-15).

The CCSD Foundation Nominee Process required potential nominees to be qualified under the CCSD Education Foundation Founding Board of Directors Job Description, complete a Board of Directors Inquiry Form, sign a Conflict of Interest Statement, and complete a Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form. (CCSD Foundation Nominee Process; April 1 Tr. 104:20-106:5). It also stated that potential nominees would be shared with Foundation staff at the beginning of the review process. (CCSD Foundation Nominee Process; April 1 Tr. 104:20-106:5). A trustee, staff member, or citizen cannot evaluate whether a potential director satisfies the job description, has relevant

nonprofit oversight experience, has conflicts requiring disclosure, or should be reviewed by Foundation staff unless the nominee is identified before final action is taken.

CCSD also has policies governing Board meeting agendas and supporting materials. (BEDA/BEDB Policy; April 1 Tr. 108:13-109:4). CCSD Policy BEDA/BEDB likewise treated agenda content and supporting materials as important to public notice and Board action. Policy BEDA/BEDB provides that agenda items for CCSD Board of Trustees meetings must be identified and described on a board action item form, that the form must be submitted before the deadline, and that any such item must be accompanied by appropriate backup material. (BEDA/BEDB Policy). It also provides that regular-meeting notice, the agenda, and supporting materials must be distributed to Board members by the Wednesday before the following Monday meeting so members can thoughtfully consider each item, and that agenda items for which supporting materials are not timely received “shall be deferred to the next regularly scheduled meeting.” (BEDA/BEDB Policy; April 1 Tr. 108:13-109:4).

B. January 7, 2026: CCSD communicated a nominee-specific process.

On January 7, 2026, Superintendent Huggins sent trustees an email titled “Critically Important/Action Required: Education Foundation Board of Directors - Trustee Nominations.” (January 7, 2026, Email). The email stated that, at the January 22 Board meeting, “each Trustee will be asked to make a nomination for one member to serve on the Board of Directors” of the Foundation. (January 7, 2026, Email; April 1 Tr. 39:15-40:17).

Further, the January 7, 2026, email stated that nominees had to reside within the trustee’s district, not be a CCSD employee or Board member, and otherwise meet the qualifications in Section 5.02 of the Foundation’s bylaws. (January 7, 2026, Email). It directed trustees to submit nominations by January 19, 2026 so staff would have adequate time to conduct conflict of interest

review and verify that nominees met the required qualifications. (January 7, 2026, Email). The January 7, 2026, email also directed trustees to submit the nominee's name and relevant background information so staff could update the agenda item for posting. (January 7, 2026, Email).

CCSD's Superintendent clearly asked for names and background information in advance so the nominee-specific materials could be reviewed and placed with the agenda before the Board voted. (January 7, 2026, Email). The Superintendent also instructed each Board member to nominate one person to the Foundation Board. (January 7, 2026, Email). CCSD did not tell trustees to appear at a meeting and nominate anyone from the floor. The Superintendent instructed trustees to submit names and relevant background information by a deadline so staff could conduct review, verify qualifications, and update the agenda item before the Board acted. (January 7, 2026, Email).

C. January 26, 2026: the Board used a district-by-district, nominee-by-name process.

At the January 26, 2026, Board meeting, the Board reached Item 11A, "CCSD Education Foundation Board of Director appointments." (Jan. 26 Bd. Tr. 2:1-3). The parliamentarian instructed the presiding officer to "call each board member by the district they represent and ask for their nominee." (Jan. 26 Bd. Tr. 2:1-8).

The Board then proceeded district by district. The presiding officer called for District 1, District 2, District 3, District 4, District 5, District 6, and District 8 nominees. (Jan. 26 Bd. Tr. 2:9-5:18). Each trustee announced a named nominee. (Jan. 26 Bd. Tr. 2:9-5:18). The District 3 nominee resume was included in the record as a nominee-specific resume supporting the January 26 process. (District 3 Nominee Resume; April 1 Tr. 3:1-4:25; 57:1-25).

Trustee Dunmeyer-Roberson nominated Appellant, Dr. McClure, for the District 8 Foundation seat. Appellant's nomination failed by a 4-5 vote. (Jan. 26 Bd. Tr. 5:5-25; 6:1-7). The

presiding officer then stated that the unfilled nominees would be taken up at the February Board meeting. (Jan. 26 Bd. Tr. 6:1-8). During the same meeting, the presiding officer stated that “all of the nominees” had submitted resumes for everyone’s review. (Jan. 26 Bd. Tr. 8:9-13).

This January 26, 2026, process confirms the baseline procedure CCSD used: district-by-district nominations, nominees called by name, and nominee-specific materials submitted for review before Board action. After Appellant’s nomination failed, the Board did not immediately fill District 8 with an unlisted substitute. Instead, the presiding officer stated the remaining unfilled seats would be taken up at the February Board meeting. (Jan. 26 Bd. Tr. 6:1-8).

D. February 25, 2026: the agenda listed specific nominees and materials, but did not list Michelle Faust.

The February 25, 2026, agenda again identified the Foundation appointment item. (February 25, 2026, Agenda; April 1 Tr. 67:1-24). Agenda Item 12(B) was titled “CCSD Education Foundation Board of Director Appointments.” (February 25, 2026 Agenda; April 1 Tr. 67:1-24). It stated that the Board “shall nominate and approve the nine (9) initial Foundation board members representing each district,” and that the appointments would comply with the Foundation’s Board of Directors Job Description and Conflict of Interest Policy. (February 25, 2026 Agenda; April 1 Tr. 67:1-24).

The February 25, 2026, agenda listed first-time nominees for Districts 7 and 9. (February 25, 2026, Agenda; April 1 Tr. 67:1-24). The agenda also listed Appellant as the “second-time” nominee for District 8. (February 25, 2026 Agenda; April 1 Tr. 67:1-24). The agenda included Appellant’s resume and cover letter. (February 25, 2026, Agenda; McClure Resume; McClure Cover Letter; April 1 Tr. 67:1-24). Appellant’s cover letter identified him as a District 8 resident and described his board experience, governance and compliance background, and prior service as a board member for Lee Montessori Public Charter School. (McClure Cover Letter).

At the February 25, 2026, meeting, the Board treated the item as a nominee-specific appointment process. At the start of Item 12(B), Trustee Whatley asked whether trustees were “calling our nominees by name,” and the Chair and parliamentarian confirmed nominees were being called by name. (Feb. 25 Bd. Tr. 2:1-19). Trustee Jewett asked whether the District 7 nominee’s resume had been received, and the Chair answered that it was “in the board packet.” (Feb. 25 Bd. Tr. 3:15-17). Dr. Tempel likewise stated that the Board had the District 9 nominee’s resume before nominating that individual. (Feb. 25 Bd. Tr. 5:7-10).

The Board then proceeded with the nominees listed on the agenda. Trustee Whatley nominated Julie Armstrong for District 7. Dr. Tempel nominated Taryn Williams for District 9. Trustee Dunmeyer-Roberson nominated Appellant for District 8. The District 7 and District 9 nominees were approved. (Feb. 25 Bd. Tr. 2:15-5:25; April 1 Tr. 67:14-68:3). Appellant’s nomination failed by a 4-5 vote. (Feb. 25 Bd. Tr. 2:15-5:25; February 25, 2026 Agenda; April 1 Tr. 67:14-68:3).

Immediately after Dr. McClure’s nomination failed, Trustee Whatley stated, “I would like to nominate Michelle Faust for District 8,” and added, “And I have her resume here.” (Feb. 25 Bd. Tr. 6:1-8). Faust was not listed on the February 25 agenda. Her resume was not included with the posted agenda. Her nomination was not noticed to the public in the same manner as the listed nominees. (February 25, 2026, Agenda; April 1 Tr. 68:10-17; 72:14-18; 73:8-19). The publicly posted agenda gave notice that Appellant was the District 8 nominee to be considered. It did not give notice that Faust would be considered, that Faust’s qualifications would be evaluated, or that Faust could be approved for the District 8 seat that night. (February 25, 2026 Agenda; Feb. 25 Bd. Tr. 6:1-8).

Some CCSD Board of Trustees members immediately objected to Faust's nomination, citing their concern the nomination of Ms. Faust was inconsistent with the prior nominations. Trustee Dunmeyer-Roberson stated that the Board had been following an established process and "now, in the middle of the -- you want to change." (Feb. 25 Bd. Tr. 17:16-22). Trustee Jewett stated that trustees had been told that "each board member was to have a nomination within their district," that this instruction was "in an email," and that it had been part of "every single dialogue." (Feb. 25 Bd. Tr. 18:7-17). Dr. Tempel stated that Faust's resume was not "on the list" and that trustees received it only at the meeting. (Feb. 25 Bd. Tr. 19:24-20:2). Trustee Dunmeyer-Roberson stated that the Board had been given a clear process, followed it, and then the process changed after the vote did not go as some trustees wanted. (Feb. 25 Bd. Tr. 20:3-9).

The Board then voted to approve Faust to serve as the Foundation's District 8 representative. After the vote, Trustee Jewett stated that Faust's resume "was never put on the agenda," and the Chair responded, "It was passed out [during the meeting]." (Feb. 25 Bd. Tr. 34:4-15). Trustee Leber then stated that she had talked to "the majority of the people -- well, the five total of us -- about Michelle Faust's experience." (Feb. 25 Bd. Tr. 34:18-25). The fact that a CCSD Board of Trustees member had prior conversations about Ms. Faust's nomination shows her nomination was not unforeseeable and could have been publicly noticed before final action was taken.¹

¹ This also enhances the likelihood of success on the merits. Ms. Leber's discussion with 5 board members may be a FOIA violation as it is evidence of an unnoticed, secret meeting with a quorum of the board. See *Brock v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 415 S.C. 625, 630, 785 S.E.2d 198, 201 (2016) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(d)) ("FOIA defines a 'meeting' as 'the convening of a quorum of the constituent membership of a public body . . . to discuss or act upon a matter over which the public body has supervision, control, jurisdiction[,] or advisory power.'").

Moreover, there was no additional twenty-four hours' notice to the public that identified Faust as a nominee. The Board did not add Faust's nomination to the agenda by a two-thirds vote, nor did the Board make an emergency or exigent-circumstance finding before taking final action on Faust's appointment. (February 25, 2026 Agenda; Feb. 25 Bd. Tr. 6:1-8; 28:14-29:1; April 30 Tr. 14:18-15:3). The Board therefore did more than change the order of discussion or continue the same agenda item. It took final action on a different person whose name and materials were first disclosed during the meeting.

E. March 4, 2026: the later Foundation appointment confirms the nominee-specific nature of the process and ability to provide notice.

On March 4, 2026, the Board held a special called meeting for another Foundation appointment. (March 4, 2026 Agenda; April 1 Tr. 4; April 30 Tr. 19:22-21:4). The March 4 agenda again identified the Foundation appointment item by nominee. (March 4, 2026 Agenda; April 30 Tr. 19:22-21:4). It listed "District 7 Nominee: Joan Robinson-Berry" and included "Bio.pdf" and Foundation documents. (March 4, 2026 Agenda; April 30 Tr. 19:22-21:4). At the April 30 hearing, Appellant showed the circuit court that, after a different nominee withdrew, the replacement nominee's name and biography were placed on the March 4 agenda. (April 30 Tr. 19:22-21:4).

The March 4, 2026, agenda and hearing record confirm that CCSD knew how to notice Foundation nominees by name when it chose to do so. The exception was Faust. The January 26, February 25, and March 4 agendas all used nominee-specific notice for the listed nominees. Faust was the only nominee approved without her name and materials being publicly posted before the vote.

When a different Foundation seat required action, CCSD placed the nominee's name and materials on the agenda of a later meeting. (March 4, 2026 Agenda; April 30 Tr. 19:22-21:4). Respondents also acknowledged below that, after the District 7 nominee withdrew, the Board held

a special-called meeting at which three individuals were nominated and the person receiving a majority vote became the District 7 Foundation board member. (Respondents' Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction at 3). Nothing in the February 25, 2026, meeting shows an emergency requiring the Board to seat Faust before the public received comparable notice.

F. The April 1 and April 30 hearings before the circuit court confirmed the disputed facts and preservation of the statutory issues.

After Appellant filed his Motion for Preliminary Injunction, the circuit court held an in-person hearing on April 1, 2026 (the "April 1, Hearing"). At the April 1 Hearing, three trustees testified that they understood nominee names, resumes, or biographical information were supposed to be provided before Board action and that they did not know Faust would be nominated or considered at the February 25, 2026, meeting. (April 1 Tr. 25:8-15; 37:5-10; 40:9-17; 41:1-9; 47:1-22; 48:7-15).

Further, CCSD's Chief Financial Officer, Daniel Prentice, testified that he and CCSD's staff include supplementary information with agenda items when available, that CCSD included the information it had as attachments to Foundation appointment agenda items, that staff provide as much information as possible when drafting agendas, and that information received is placed on the agenda. (April 1 Tr. 63:9-20; 65:6-11; 72:1-13). He testified that Faust's resume was handed out during the meeting and was not placed on the agenda. (April 1 Tr. 72:14-18; 73:8-19). He also acknowledged that "the public's informed by anything on the agenda" and later testified that placing available nominee information on the agenda was CCSD's "procedure." (April 1 Tr. 75:19-76:16; 82:1-13; 82:21-83:13).

Superintendent Huggins testified that CCSD originally requested nominee names and resumes so staff could conduct due diligence and provide trustees with information before the vote.

(April 1 Tr. 97:10-98:18). Superintendent Huggins also testified that, after a nominee's name appeared on a later agenda, the nominee withdrew from consideration after being contacted by members of the public. CCSD thereafter stopped listing nominee names on a later special called agenda on advice of counsel. (April 1 Tr. 115:1-19).²

The evidence also confirmed that the requested relief would not disrupt settled public operations. The Foundation was brand new, had conducted only one meeting, had not established a budget, and was still addressing IRS-related organizational filings. (April 1 Tr. 79:2-10; April 30 Tr. 15:23-16:8; 25:13-19).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The grant or denial of injunctive relief is generally reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Richland County v. S.C. Department of Revenue*, 422 S.C. 292, 310, 811 S.E.2d 758, 767 (2018). “An abuse of discretion occurs where the trial court is controlled by an error of law or where the trial court’s order is based on factual conclusions without evidentiary support.” *Lambries v. Saluda County Council*, 409 S.C. 1, 10, 760 S.E.2d 785, 790 (2014). Although injunctions are equitable and generally subject to the trial court’s discretion, when the decision turns on statutory interpretation, the appellate court reviews the legal issue *de novo*. *Id.* at 10-11, 760 S.E.2d at 790.

An applicant for preliminary injunctive relief must ordinarily show immediate, irreparable harm, likelihood of success on the merits, and no adequate remedy at law. *Compton v. S.C. Department of Corrections*, 392 S.C. 361, 366, 709 S.E.2d 639, 642 (2011). However, the court

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