RECEIVED

Sep 08 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Circuit Court

Judge Robert J. Bonds

Circuit Court Appellate No.: 2026-CP-10-01436
Appellate Case No.: 2026-001286

Dr. Brian McClureAppellant,

v.

Charleston County School District, Charleston County School District Education Foundation,
Leah Whatley, Michelle Leber, Keith Grybowski, Carlotta Bailey, and Pamela McKinney
..... Respondents,

RESPONDENTS' INITIAL BRIEF

Alice F. Paylor (SC Bar No. 4380)
Elizabeth J. Palmer (SC Bar No. 73680)
Saxton & Stump, LLC
151 Meeting St., Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 414-5080

Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

I. The lower court correctly determined that Appellant failed to establish a likelihood of success on the merits of his claim that Respondents violated FOIA at the BOT's February 25, 2026, meeting.

“The remedy of an injunction is a drastic one and ought to be applied with caution.” Forest Land Co. v. Black, 216 S.C. 255, 57 S.E.2d 420, 426 (1950); Lefurgy v. The Long Cove Owners Ass'n, Inc., 313 S.C. 555, 443 S.E.2d 577 (Ct. App. 1994). A preliminary injunction should issue only if necessary to preserve the status quo ante, and only upon a showing by the moving party that: (1) without such relief it will suffer irreparable harm; (2) that it has a likelihood of success on the merits; and (3) and that there is no adequate remedy at law. Poynter Invs., Inc. v. Century Builders of Piedmont, Inc., 387 S.C. 583, 586–87, 694 S.E.2d 15, 17 (2010). The party seeking an injunction has the burden of demonstrating facts and circumstances warranting an injunction. Strategic Res. Co. v. BCS Life Ins. Co., 367 S.C. 540, 544, 627 S.E.2d 687, 689 (2006).

A. The posted agenda sufficiently gave the public notice that the CCSD BOT would be making nominations to the Foundation's board at its February 25, 2026, meeting, and no amendment to that agenda was required.

FOIA requires public bodies to give written public notice of the date, time, and place of any meetings. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-80(A). Additionally, public bodies are required to post an agenda for meetings at least twenty-four hours prior to any meeting. Id. Although no guidance is given by FOIA as to the contents of an agenda, FOIA's ultimate purpose of protecting the public from secret government activity dictates that an agenda must give the public notice that some action may be taken on a particular subject. See Wiedemann v. Town of Hilton Head Island, 330 S.C. 532, 500 S.E.2d 783 (1998) (the essential purpose of FOIA is to protect the public from secret government activity).

In Brock v. Town of Mount Pleasant, 415 S.C. 625, 632, 785 S.E.2d 198, 202 (2016), at issue was the sufficiency of an agenda. Relevant to the case at bar, our Supreme Court held that an agenda must “give notice that some action may be taken” but also acknowledged that a public body may not know in advance specifically what action it will take.

Courts have routinely rejected challenges to an agenda’s specificity where, as here, the agenda gives the public notice of the potential government “action” to be taken at a public meeting. In City of San Antonio v. Fourth Ct. of Appeals, 820 S.W.2d 762, 765 (Tex. 1991), city council posted an agenda listing: “An Ordinance determining the necessity for and authorizing the condemnation of certain property in County Blocks 4180, 4181, 4188, and 4297 in Southwest Bexar County for the construction of the Applewhite Water Supply Project.” A citizen whose property was condemned by the city’s passage of the ordinance at the council meeting complained that the agenda was insufficient to give her notice and that the agenda should have listed the specific properties sought to be condemned. The Supreme Court of Texas disagreed, finding “the City’s notice as to the subject matter of the ordinance was sufficient to ensure that a reader was given adequate notice of the proposed governmental action.” Noting that an agenda must enable public access to, and increase public knowledge of, government decision making, the court clarified that it:

need not go further and inquire into whether a notice was tailored to reach those specific individuals whose private interests are most likely to be affected by the proposed government action, as [complainant] would have us do. The intended beneficiaries of [FOIA] are not individual citizens, such as the particular landowners affected by this condemnation, but members of the interested public. If a “reader” is given notice, the requirement of [FOIA] is satisfied and its purpose served.

Id. at 765.

In Banks v. Bd. of Education of Chase Cty, 202 Neb. 717, 277 N.W.2d 76 (1979), the plaintiff sought a declaration that a school board meeting which authorized the approval of a contract with Wilson & Company, a group of architects, was void because of a violation of the public meetings laws with respect to the contents of the agenda. The court's opinion recited that the agenda included notice of a "discussion" with John Smutz of Wilson & Company which "should result in determining whether we want this company or not." Id. at 723, 277 N.W.2d at 80. Nebraska's Supreme Court found that although the language was not "a model of clarity, [it] did inform the public that an agreement with the architect was to be discussed and possibly entered." Id. The court rejected the contention that the notice on the agenda was inadequate.

In Town of Marble v. Darien, 181 P.3d 1148, 1149 (Colo. 2008), town council held a public meeting at which it voted to reject a proposal for erecting a permanent monument at Mill Site Park, a local park owned by the town. Proponents of the proposal brought suit, alleging that the agenda was deficient and violated Colorado's Open Meetings Law because it did not expressly state that the council would be taking formal action on the proposal. The Colorado Supreme Court held that the agenda was sufficient because an ordinary member of the community would understand that the agenda item listed on the notice - "Mill Site Committee Update" - would include consideration of, and possible formal action on, the Mill Site Park proposal.

Here, the agenda in question gave the public notice that the BOT would "nominate and approve the nine (9) initial Foundation board members representing each district" at the February 25, 2026, meeting. (Agenda, ¶ 12(B)) That is exactly what happened, satisfying the letter and the spirit of FOIA. Appellant's contention that all potential nominees were required to be listed on the agenda is not only unsupported by law, but also impractical. After all, how would it be known in

advance who a BOT member might decide to nominate during the course of the meeting, as they were certainly empowered to do?²

The fact that certain CCSD BOT members and Appellant were disappointed in the nomination and approval of someone else for the District 8 Foundation board seat is not relevant to the determination of whether the agenda sufficiently apprised the public that nominations and votes on those nominations were likely to occur at the meeting. There was no secret governmental activity.

Additionally, Appellant's contentions that the BOT was required to amend the agenda, either 24 hours in advance of the meeting or with a 2/3 majority vote of the BOT during the meeting, lack merit. FOIA provides:

Once an agenda for a regular, called, special, or rescheduled meeting is posted pursuant to this subsection, no items may be added to the agenda without an additional twenty-four hours notice to the public, which must be made in the same manner as the original posting. After the meeting begins, an item upon which action can be taken only may be added to the agenda by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting; however, if the item is one upon which final action can be taken at the meeting or if the item is one in which there has not been and will not be an opportunity for public comment with prior public notice given in accordance with this section, it only may be added to the agenda by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting and upon a finding by the body that an emergency or an exigent circumstance exists if the item is not added to the agenda.

S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-80(A). FOIA only requires amendment of an agenda when an item upon which action can be taken is added. Here, the actions taken, i.e., the nominations and votes on those nominations, were already on the agenda for the February 25, 2026, BOT meeting. The

² Notably, two of the Trustees called by Appellant to testify at the April 1, 2026, hearing, Trustee Roberson and Trustee Tempel, made nominations "from the floor" during the following CCSD Board meeting. Compare 4/4/26 Agenda, listing Joan Robinson-Berry as a nominee (Ex. 2 to Reply Memo in Opp to TRO, at item 2(A)) with 4/4/26 Minutes, indicating that both Roberson and Tempel made additional nominations during the meeting (Ex. 3 to Reply Memo in Opp to TRO, at item 2(A)); see also 4/1/26 Trans., p. 50, ll. 7-20 (Tempel testimony); p. 68, ll. 18-19 (CCSD CFO testimony); p. 111, ll. 15-17 (CCSD Superintendent testimony).

public was already appraised by virtue of the agenda that the BOT would be nominating individuals for service on the Foundation board and voting on those nominations. Amendment of the agenda was not required because the BOT did no more than take action on the matter which was properly noticed in the original agenda. In other words, there was no “item” to be added to the agenda.

Appellant’s disappointment stemming from his rejection by a majority of the BOT does not translate into a FOIA violation. Appellant is not likely to succeed on the merits of his claims related to the sufficiency of the agenda, and the denial of injunctive relief should be affirmed.

B. Appellant presented no evidence that deliberations amongst a quorum of the BOT concerning Foundation board appointments took place prior to, or outside of, the February 25, 2026, meeting.

FOIA dictates that meetings of a public body, such as CCSD’s BOT, must be open to the public with only certain exceptions not applicable here. See S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-60. However, not every discussion amongst or between members of a public body constitutes a “meeting”. Rather, FOIA defines “meeting” as “the convening of a quorum of the constituent membership of a public body, whether corporal or by means of electronic equipment, to discuss or act upon a matter over which the public body has supervision, control, jurisdiction or advisory power.” S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(d); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(e) (defining “quorum” as “a simple majority of the constituent membership of a public body.”).

As such, were a majority of CCSD’s BOT to get together and discuss BOT business, there would potentially be a violation of FOIA because such would constitute a “meeting” with a quorum of the BOT present that was not properly noticed and not open to the public. That is not what happened here.

Appellant failed to produce any competent evidence that a quorum of the BOT discussed or deliberated on the Foundation board nominations outside of a properly noticed meeting. Rather, he simply alleges, “[u]pon information and belief, Defendants Whatley, Leber, Grybowski, Bailey, and McKinney engaged in ‘one-on-one’ telephone conversations with each other to discuss how they can avoid having Plaintiff serve on the foundation.” (Am. Compl., ¶ 29). First, “one-on-one” telephone conversations between members of a public body do not constitute a quorum or a meeting and are not violative of FOIA’s open meeting requirements. Second, no competent evidence of any deliberations or discussions amongst a majority of the BOT, outside of the confines of a properly noticed public meeting, was presented.

In his Amended Complaint, Appellant further attempts to allege a FOIA violation by claiming that these “one-on-one” conversations ran afoul of S.C. Code Ann. § 30-40-70(b). However, that section concerns the prohibition against the polling of members of a public body during *executive session* and is entirely irrelevant here.

The lower court correctly determined that Appellant is not likely to succeed on the merits of these claims.

C. Even if Respondents failed to follow CCSD’s BOT’s policies, the Foundation’s bylaws, or prior practices relating to agenda contents, those failures do not establish a FOIA violation.

Appellant devotes substantial argument and discussion to Respondents’ perceived departures from past agenda-related practices, BOT policies, and the Foundation’s Bylaws. However, such departures, even if proven, are not probative of whether Respondents violated FOIA. For example, Appellant argues that once CCSD included supplementary materials in the BOT meeting agendas, such as the biographical information of individuals who BOT members had, prior to the posting of the agenda, indicated they intended to nominate for a Foundation board

seat, FOIA required that they continue to do so. This is incorrect. There is no legal basis supporting the contention that a public body's past practice of exceeding FOIA's disclosure requirements creates an ongoing duty to do so or that a departure from such voluntary practices constitutes a FOIA violation. Appellant is not likely to succeed on the merits of this argument.

D. Appellant failed to allege any legally cognizable claims against the Respondent Trustees or the CCSD Education Foundation and therefore cannot establish any likelihood of success as against these Respondents.

Appellant's Complaint names five individual BOT members and the Foundation as defendants. However, individual BOT members cannot be held liable for FOIA violations as they are not a "public body"³. FOIA imposes obligations on public bodies thus, liability for violation of FOIA can only be asserted against public bodies. The purpose of FOIA is to protect the public by providing a mechanism for the disclosure of information by *public bodies*. Sloan v. Friends of Hunley, Inc., 369 S.C. 20, 26, 630 S.E.2d 474, 478 (2006) (emphasis added) (citing Bellamy v. Brown, 305 S.C. 291, 295, 408 S.E.2d 219, 221 (1991)). In Sloan, the plaintiff sued a public body and its chairman alleging that the public body violated FOIA by refusing to produce certain documents in response to a FOIA request. The S.C. Supreme Court held that the chairman was properly granted summary judgment because he was sued only in his capacity as the chairman of

³ Pursuant to FOIA, "public body" is defined as "any department of the State, a majority of directors or their representatives of departments within the executive branch of state government as outlined in Section 1-30-10, any state board, commission, agency, and authority, any public or governmental body or political subdivision of the State, including counties, municipalities, townships, school districts, and special purpose districts, or any organization, corporation, or agency supported in whole or in part by public funds or expending public funds, including committees, subcommittees, advisory committees, and the like of any such body by whatever name known, and includes any quasi-governmental body of the State and its political subdivisions, including, without limitation, bodies such as the South Carolina Public Service Authority and the South Carolina State Ports Authority. Committees of health care facilities, which are subject to this chapter, for medical staff disciplinary proceedings, quality assurance, peer review, including the medical staff credentialing process, specific medical case review, and self-evaluation, are not public bodies for the purpose of this chapter." S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(a).

the public body. Sloan, 369 S.C. at 29, 630 S.E.2d at 479. That reasoning is equally applicable here and compels a finding that Appellant cannot succeed on the merits of his claims, if any, against the individual BOT Trustees named as defendants.

Likewise, no substantive allegations – at all – are made against the Foundation. As such, Appellant cannot show that he is likely to succeed on the merits of any claim against this Respondent and the lower court correctly determined that injunctive relief was unwarranted.

E. Because CCSD’s BOT, at a minimum, substantially complied with the requirements of FOIA, and because Appellant can show no prejudice from the actions he alleges were improper, Appellant cannot show he is likely to succeed on the merits of his claim that Respondents violated FOIA.

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